FINDING AID FOR ST MARYS SAFFRON WALDEN
CHURCHYARD MEMORIAL STONES - by John Read

Introduction. This memorandum is intended to help locate the present and
previous positions of memorial stones in the churchyard. It should be noted
that the churchyard was closed to further burials in 1860, and all later burials
took place in the Radwinter Road cemetery, for which there is a separate
online index. The only exceptions were the burials of R A Butler and his wife,
and a few cases shortly after 1860 where there were spaces in existing family
burial plots.

A survey of stones in the churchyard was made in 1938 by H Downham and
W J Fancett. They divided the churchyard into eight sections and listed the
names and years of burial for each legible stone, and how many illegible
stones they saw. A notebook containing hand-drawn plans of each section
was made at the same time.

An updated survey on the same lines was done in 1950, at the time when it
was proposed to clear the churchyard and re-site the majority of the stones
along the churchyard walls. Each stone was numbered within its section
(superseded by the later numbering system — see below).. By this time,
some previously legible stones had become illegible, but also a few more
stones were added to the1938 list.

Between 1978 and 1984, a survey was made by the North West Essex
Churchyard Group, and the Essex Society for Family History, after the re-
siting of the stones along the perimeter walls, and published on microfiche.
This time full transcriptions of the stones were made where legible, but a few
more had become illegible. 240 stones, including illegibles, were listed, and
numbered according to the following pattern:

Nos 1-52 along the south wall of the churchyard backing on to gardens of
houses in Church Street (lower section nearest to High Street).

Nos 53-75 along the west wall of the churchyard backing on to the garden of a
house in High Street.

Nos 76-135 along the north wall of the churchyard backing on to gardens of
houses in Castle Street.

Nos 136-202 along the south wall of the churchyard backing on to gardens of
houses in Church Street (upper section opposite south door of church).

Nos 203-240 stones (mostly upright tombs) left in situ.

The following lists are copied from the 1938 survey.



Section | (1938)
Close to the south wall of the church between the door of the south porch,
and the door of the south chapel (choir vestry).

Bartlett ? 1791 Burrows, Priscilla Ann 1830
Parker, John 1802 Burrows, Richard 1832
Parker, Ann 1807 Burrows, William 1833
Burrows, Susan 1804
Robinson, Wm 1820
Robinson, Sarah 1819 Spicer, James 1814
Spicer, Alice 1807
Spicer, Thomas 1808
Starling, Jane 1789 Spicer, Susanna 1814
Thurgood, Amy 1833 Walker, Sarah 1814
Thurgood, Wm 1837
White, Thomas 1771
White, Charles 1821 White, George 1829
White, Rebecca 1821 White, Francis 1855

3 stones illegible

Bartlett and Walker missing from the 1950 list. Starling missing from 1984 list.
The rest are numbered as follows: Thurgood 165. James Spicer 169.
Thomas Spicer 174. Parker 176. Thomas White 177. Priscilla Burrows 178.
Robinson 182. Richard Burrows 235 (in situ). Charles White 236 (in situ).

Apart from the two tombs left in situ, the only stones now legible are 176
(Parker) and 177 (Thomas White). The rest, 165, 169, 174, 178, and 182 are
now virtually illegible, though their positions can be worked out from the two
legible stones. Also on the 1938 plan is a stone named as Mary? 1830. This
could be Mary Barns who was the only Mary buried in 1830 per burial register.

Section 11 (1938)
Near the south wall of the churchyard on the other side of the path from

Section I.
[Mynott, Laurence  1802] Dickson, Martha 1856
[Mynott, Mary 1804]
[Kidner, Henry 1836]
Mynott, [Wm] 1831 [Kidner, Mary ? ]
[Mynott, Maria Amelia ? ]
[Mynott, Charles ? ] {Markham}

5 stones illegible, apparently 17" century.

The square bracketed items were listed in 1950, but not in 1938. Markham
was listed in 1984, but not listed in the two previous surveys. The above are



numbered as follows: Dickson 151, Kidner 179, Laurence Mynott 181, Wm
Mynott 183, Markham 234 (flat stone in ground still in situ). Of the above,
151 Dickson, 181 Laurence Mynott, and 183 Wm Mynott are still legible. 179
Kidner and 234 Markham are now virtually illegible.

Dates of burial per burial register are Maria Amelia Mynott 1828, Charles
Mynott 1831, Henry? Kidner 1849, Hester Markham 1762.

Section Il (1938)
Round the east end of the church between the door of the south chapel (choir
vestry) and door of the north chapel.

Penning, Thomas ? Webb, Thomas 1806
Webb, Sarah ?

3 stones illegible.

Penning missing from the 1950 list. ~ Webb numbered 162. Also one flat
stone still in situ numbered 233 illegible in 1984 (possibly Penning?). 162
Webb is now virtually illegible.

Dates of burial per burial register Thomas Penning 1718, Sarah Webb 1838.
Section IV (1938)

Round the south west corner of the church between the door of the south
porch and the west door.

Archer, George 1822 [Andrews, Ann ?]
Archer, Hannah 1830 Archer, Henry 1822

Archer, John 1830
Catlin, Nathaniel 1785 Archer, Henry ?
Catlin, Ann 1787

Catlin, Martin 1815
Scott, Joseph 1820 Catlin, Mary 1830
[Bird, Samuel 1805] Catlin, Robert 1817
[Bird, Mary 1855]

Rumble. William 1844

Hodson, Elizabeth 1850

5 stones illegible

The square bracketed items were listed in 1950, but not in 1938. The above
are numbered in 1984 as follows: George Archer 8, Scott and Rumble 10,
Bird 11, Andrews 12, Hodson 13, Nathaniel Catlin 184, Robert Catlin 186,
Hannah Archer 237 (in situ), Martin Catlin 238 (in situ), Henry Archer 239 (in
situ).



Numbers 237, 238, and 239 are Grade Il listed.

The present state of the above stones as follows: 8 George Archer hidden by
shrubbery, but appears illegible; 10 Scott and Rumbile still legible; 11 Bird
illegible; 12 Andrews still legible; 13 Hodson covered in ivy; 184 Nathaniel
Catlin hardly legible; 186 Robert Catlin legible. The wordings on the three
tombs 237, 238, and 239 still in situ, are badly weathered.

There are also two flat stones still in situ near the path. These are marked on
the 1938 plan as being of Nathaniel Catlin and Robert Catlin, and it would

seem that the headstones from these were detached and placed by the wall
as numbers 184 and 186.

Dates of burial per burial register Ann Andrews 1822, Henry Archer 18067

Section V (1938)
At the east end of the churchyard near the Museum Street wall

Archer, Ann 1816 Baldry, Phoebe Ann ?
Barrett, John ? Baker, Edward 1807
Baker, Alice 1807

Bunten, Robert 1826
Bunten, Mary 1835 Bunten, John 1796

Bunten, Anne 1799
Fitch, Edward 1854 Bunten, John 1795
Fitch, Dudley 1852 Bunten, Mary 1807
Gardner, Thomas 1803 Bull, Nicholas 1844
Gardner, Mary 1802 Bull, Catherine ?
Gardner, William 1787

Jones, William 1844
Kemp, Joseph 1809

Knowlden, Decimus 1855
Rickard, John 1850 Howlands, Mary 1855
Rickard, Sophia 1860

Warren, George 1809
Shaul, James 1849 Warren, Susanna 1807
Shaul, Robert 1839
Shaul, John 1856

3 stones illegible

The above are numbered in 1984 as follows: Jones 149, Robert Bunten 150,
John Bunten 152, Baldry 154, Fitch 155, Kemp 156, Warren 157, Barrett 161,
Gardner 197, Bull 228 (in situ), Shaul 231 (in situ), Rickard 232 (in situ). Ann
Archer not listed in 1950. Baker, Knowlden and Howlands not listed in1984.

Surprisingly every one of the above numbered stones is still legible.



Not listed above but listed and numbered in 1984 are Lord Butler 229, and an
illegible tomb 230 (both in situ). This illegible tomb is probably that of
Knowlden and Howlands, shown in the 1938 plan in a position similar to its
present site.

Dates of burial per burial register Baldry 1848, Barrett 1802, Catherine Bull
1813.

Section VI (1938)
On the north side of the church between the door of the north chapel and the

west door
Archer, William 1809 Barron, Charles 1848
Bell, Mary ? Brook, Manasses 1787
Bradfield, Charles 1808 Bradfield, John 1820
Bradfield, Henry ? Bradfield, Sarah ?
Bradfield, Mary 1809 Bowtell, Jonathan 1823
Bowtell, Ann 1809
Crussell, John 1812 Bowtell, Edward 1827
Crussell, Anne 1819 Knott-Smith, Alice 1851
Hall, George 1816 Knott, Alice 1786
Walter, John ? Smoothy, James 1816
Smoothy, Mary 1830
Leverett, John 1859
Leverett, Susannah 1858 Spicer, Seamer 1845
Leverett, Joseph Stebbing 1848 Spicer, Elizabeth 1846
Leverett, Robert 1801 Leverett, John 1783
Leverett, John 1831 Leverett, William 1848
Leverett, Susannah 1825 Leverett, Sarah 1838
Leverett, Anne 1871
Trott, Richard 1745

4 stones illegible

Also William Bloom 1821 and Anne Bloom 1819 shown on plan but not in list.
These two plus Bell and Walter not listed in 1950. William and Sarah Leverett
not listed in 1984. The above are numbered in 1984 as follows: Archer 138,
Crussell 141, John Leverett (1783) 143, Knott 144, Mary Bradfield 145,
Charles Bradfield 146, John Bradfield 147, Smoothy 148, Brook 191, Hall 192,
Robert Leverett 195, Trott 198, Barron 220 (in situ), Spicer 221 (in situ), John
Leverett (1831) 225 (in situ), John Leverett (1859) 226 (in situ), Bowtell and
Knott-Smith 227 (in situ). Also three illegible flat stones still in situ and
numbered 222, 223, and 224, one with name Elizabeth visible in 1984.



The present state of the above stones as follows: 138 Archer and 141
Crussell hidden by shrubbery. 143 John Leverett (1783) still legible. 144
Knott covered in ivy. 145 Mary Bradfield, 146 Charles Bradfield, 147 John
Bradfield, 148 Smoothy, 191 Brook, 192 Hall, 195 Robert Leverett, and 198
Trott all still legible. Of the tombs in situ 221 Spicer, 225 John Leverett
(1831), 226 John Leverett (1859), and 227 Bowtell and Knott-Smith, are still
legible. 220 Barron (near west door) is now illegible. 222-224 illegible.

Dates of burial per burial register Mary [Ann] Bell 1846, Henry Bradfield 1806,
Sarah Bradfield 1819, Walter 1826.

Section VII A (1938)
On the right of the path leading down to High Street (top section nearest to

church)
Adams, James 1824 Barrett, James 1819
Adams, James Jnr 1837 Bailey, Thomas ?
Adams, Mary 1841
Adams, Caroline 1834 Bradbury, Elizabeth 1820
Butler, Thomas ?
Munton, Boughton 1821
Munton, Anne 1810 Child, William V 1837
Coulson, Eliza Jane 1811 Gibbs, William 1809
Ford, Isaac 1787 Erswell, Enoch 1830
Ford, John 1835
Ford, Mary ? Grigg, Thomas ?
Ford, Elizabeth 1852
French, Mary ?
Goodwin, Edward 1805
Horsnell, Simon 1836
Lesley, Elizabeth 1833 Horsnell, Esther ?
Nockolds, Martin 1796 Turner, Thomas 1834
Nockolds, Elizabeth ? Turner, Mary 1854
Nockolds, Jacob 1850 Turner, Charles S 1855
Nockolds, Elizabeth 1831 Turner, Elizabeth 1844
Turner, William ?
Osland, John ?
Trett?, Thomas 1792
Pomfrett, Robert 1810
Pomfrett, Elizabeth 1820 Westwood, Thomas 1855
Westwood, Susanna ?
Ward, Joseph 1840
Ward, William 1838 Ward, William 1856
Ward, Mary E 1832
7 stones illegible Ward, Elizabeth 1818



[Ward, Richard 1808]
[Ward, Elizabeth 1844]

Richard and Elizabeth Ward listed in 1950 but not in 1938. Lesley, Osland,
Bailey, Butler, Gibbs, French and Trett listed as illegible in 1950. Munton,
Ford, Goodwin, Child and William Turner not listed in 1984. The remainder
are numbered as follows: Elizabeth Nockolds 3, Jacob & Elizabeth Nockolds
4, Butler 6, Richard Ward 112, Grigg 113, Barrett 114, Thomas/Mary/Charles
Turner 117, Horsnell 118, Elizabeth Turner and Pomfrett 119, Adams 120,
Westwood 122, Coulson 123, Bradbury 126, Martin Nockolds 128, Lesley
129, Erswell 202, William Ward 218 (in situ), Joseph Ward 219 (in situ). The
present state of the above stones as follows: 3 and 4 Nockolds still legible, 6
Butler covered in ivy, 202 Erswell still legible, 218 (in situ) William Ward no
longer legible, 219 (in situ) Joseph Ward still legible. The remainder
numbered between 112 and 129 are sited along the north wall adjacent to this
section, but they are obscured by undergrowth, and in the shade of trees
which cut out the light. The only one now easily legible is 122 Westwood. In
addition there are three unnumbered flat stones still in situ in a triangular
pattern jn the lower part of the section near the path. One of these has a
rectangular border with grass in the centre, which looks like the base of an
upright tomb. The 1938 plan has a tomb in this position labelled Jacob and
Elizabeth Nockolds, whilst the two Nockolds stones numbered 3 and 4 are
described in the 1984 survey as being possibly the side panels of a chest
tomb. It seems therefore quite likely that the stone in question was the base
of the Nockolds tomb from which the two side panels were removed. This is
confirmed by notes made about the resiting in 1950, where it is recommended
that only the panels should be preserved. There is also another unnumbered
flat stone just to the west of the two Ward tombs. The 1938 plan has the tomb
of Boughton Munton in this position.

Dates of burial per burial register, Mary Ford 1813, Elizabeth Nockolds 1850,
Bailey 1837, Butler 1816, Grigg 1776, French 1767, Esther Horsnell 1837,
William Turner 18327, Susanna Westwood 1854, Osland 1785. Thomas
Trett should possibly be Trott.

Section VII B (1938)
On the right of the path leading down to High Street (middle section)

[Butterfield, Edwin Henry 1816] Archer, John 1837
[Butterfield, Isabella Foote ?]
[Butterfield, Louisa ?] Archer, John 1771
Archer, Elizabeth 1768
Archer, William 1816
Archer, James 1817 Barrett, William 1792
Archer, John 1818
Barham, John 1799
Bainbridge, George 1831 Barham, Sarah 1801
Bailey, Thomas 1830 Brown, Sampson 1814



Browne, Robert 1815 Butterfield, Henry 1856

Browne, Robert Jnr 1820
Browne, Mary 1854 Burdett, John 1829
Burdett, Godfrey 1864
Burrows, Sarah 1851
Croft, Mary Ann 1824

Burdett, Tamar 1831
Burdett, Godfrey 1836 Day, John 1824
Bell, Mary Ann 1817 Green, Elizabeth 1816
Cockerill, William 1802 Edwards, John ?
Filmer, Sarah ? Hall, Francis 1829
Griffiths, ? 1800 Hardwick, Mary Ann 1837
Grylls, William 1827 King, Sarah 1822
Grylls, Ann 1846 King, John 1852
Ivory, William 1793 Kettle, Susan Maria 1843
King, Simeon 1822 Leverett, William 1793
King, Mary 1827

Mizen, Robert 1830
Leverett, William ?

Newman, Maria 1836
Leverett, Edward 1817
Leverett, Richard 1820 Pratt, Mary ?
Miller, William ? Rumbelow, Elizabeth 1832
Miller, Mary Ann ? Rumbelow, Mary 1834
Reynolds, Lydia 1811 Smith, John 1770
Reynolds, Rebecca 1812 Smith, Elizabeth ?

(2 separate graves non-adjacent)
Sach, Philip 1816 Waight, Mary 1831
Sach, Charles ?

Wellby, Thomas 1837
Spicer, Cornell 1857
Spicer, Harriot 1842 Webb, Henry 1821
Spicer, Richard Ward 1865 [Reynolds, ? ?]
Spicer, Dudley Adcock 1852

{Archer, Thomas 1820}
Wallis, Thomas 1804 {Archer, Ann 1801}

{Spicer, Jonathan}
{Spicer, Elizabeth}



{Spicer, Sarah}
{Spicer , Mary Ann}
{Spicer, Philip}

Thomas and Ann Archer shown on 1938 plan, but not in 1938 list, and not
listed in 1950, but recorded in 1984. Jonathan Spicer not listed in 1938 or
1950, but recorded in 1984. Square bracketed entries added in 1950. The
following listed as illegible in 1950: Bainbridge, Bell, Filmer, Griffiths, Miller,
Barrett, Barham, Green, Mizen, Pratt, Rumbelow, Smith, and Wellby, yet
several of these were seen in 1984. The following not listed in 1984: Edwin
Butterfield, Sarah Burrows, Filmer, Griffiths, William Leverett ?, Miller, Cornell
Spicer, Barrett. Henry Butterfield, Kettle, Mizen, Pratt, Rumbelow, Reynolds ?.
The following numbered in 1984: Day 5, Barham 60, Newman 61, Smith 62,
Bailey 63, Hardwick 65, Reynolds 70, Bell 71, Wellby 72, Sampson Brown 73,
Cockerill 79, Simeon King 80, Robert Browne 85, Wallis 86, Grylls 88, William
Leverett (1793) 97, Edward Leverett 98, Webb 99, Croft 100, Green 102,
Sarah King 106, Richard Ward Spicer 107, Sach 130, Waight 131, Bainbridge
133, John Archer 196, John Edwards 210 (in situ), Thomas/Ann Archer 211
(in situ), illegible 212 (in situ), William Archer 213 (not visible see below),
Jonathan Spicer 214 (in situ), John Burdett 215 (in situ), Tamar Burdett 216
(in situ), Francis Hall 217 (in situ). One more illegible and unnumbered flat
stone near the path.

Numbers 210 and 211 are Grade Il listed.

The present state of the above stones as follows: 5 Day legible, 196 John
Archer partly legible. The remaining stones are all set against the west or
north churchyard walls. Of these the only ones now legible are: 71 Mary Ann
Bell, 106 Sarah King, and 107 Richard Ward Spicer. The stones on the west
wall, although easily accessible, are weathered, and the following are now
virtually illegible: 60 Barham, 61 Newman, 62 Smith, 63 Bailey, 65 Hardwick,
70 Reynolds, 72 Wellby, and 73 Sampson Brown. The stones on the north
wall are mostly obscured by ivy growing over the wall, and by dense
shrubbery, and the following are now illegible: 79 Cockerill, 80 Simeon King,
85 Robert Browne, 86 Wallis, 88 Grylls, 97 William Leverett (1793), 98
Edward Leverett, 99 Webb, 100 Croft, 130 Sach, 131 Waight, and 133
Bainbridge. Inscriptions on the following tombs left in situ are mainly legible:
210 Edwards, 211 Thomas/Ann Archer, 214 Spicer, 215 John Burdett, 216
Tamar Burdett, 217 Francis Hall. 212 is illegible as listed. There is no sign
of 213 William Archer, recorded in 1984 as a flat stone left in situ to the south
of 214, and | believe it may have sunk below ground.

Dates of burial per burial register: Isabella Foote Butterfield 1851, Louisa
Butterfield 1851, Charles Sach 1851, Mary Pratt 1824, Elizabeth Smith 1834.

In the middle of this section is a cedar tree, which is listed in the 1984 survey
with a notice saying it was planted in honour of the coronation of King Edward
VIl in 1902. The notice has disappeared.



Section VII C (1938)
On the right of the path leading down to High Street (bottom Section)

Anderson, Lucy 1841 Baines, Mary 1851
Baynes, Elizabeth 1855 Bolton, Mary Ann ?
Roe, William 1831
Cox, James 1833 Carter, John ?
Carter, Hannah 1816
Clayden, John ?
Clayden, Mary Ann ? Durrant, ? ?
The Emson Tomb Francis, Samuel 1872
Francis, Eleanor Ann 1854
Frye,JT ?
Frye, Harriet Sophia ? Feskie, Henry ?
Gray, Mary 1811 Good, John
Good, Sarah
Godfrey, William 1856 Good, George Fred
Low, Jane 1823 Hestler, Jonas 1819
Nicholls, John 1810 Parke, Elizabeth ?
Nicholls, Mary 1823
The Rider Tomb
Ruse, Mary Ann 1846
Smart, George 1823
Spicer, William ? Smart, Elizabeth 1833
Spicer, Mary 1838
Law, John 1849 Stokes, Edward 1842
Stokes, William 1838
Tredgett, Joseph 1845
Tredgett, Sarah 1838 Van Heythuysen, Mary 1855
Ward, Susannah 1815
Ward, William 1815

Ward, Harriet Susannah 1803

The following listed as illegible in 1950: Clayden, Bolton/Roe, Durrant,
Feskie, and Smart. Mary Ann Ruse, Mary Van Heythuysen and Elizabeth
Baynes not listed in 1984. The following numbered in 1984: Hestler 66,
Anderson 67, Godfrey 68, Francis 69, Smart 81, Low 82, Cox 83, Carter 90,
Gray 92, Parke 93, Nicholls 94, Stokes 96, Spicer/Law 104, Ward 105,
George Fred Good 203 (in situ), John & Sarah Good 204 (in situ), Rider 205
(in situ), Mary Baines 206 (in situ), Frye 207 (in situ), Tredgett 208 (in situ),
and Emson 209 (in situ).
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All stones from this section are sited on the west or north walls. The present
state is as follows. The stones on the west wall are weathered, and the
following are now virtually illegible: 66 Hestler, 67 Anderson, 68 Godfrey, 69
Francis. The stones on the north wall are mostly obscured by ivy or
undergrowth, and the following are also virtually illegible: 81 Smart, 82 Low,
83 Cox, 90 Carter, 92 Gray, 93 Parke, 94 Nicholls, 96 Stokes, 104
Spicer/Law, 105 Ward. Of the remainder left in situ, 203 George Fred Good is
still legible, but the adjacent 204 John & Sarah Good is covered with ivy. 205
Rider still legible, but 206 Mary Baines and 207 Frye, both flat stones, have
disappeared, and have probably sunk below ground as the undergrowth in
this area has not been cleared. 208 Tredgett and 209 Emson are still legible.
Another unnumbered and illegible stone lies to the north of the Good tombs,
and from the 1938 plan must be Clayden. Also a few other unnumbered and
illegible flat stones.

Dates of burial per burial register. John Clayden 1844 or 1851, Harriet Sophia
Frye 1821, William Spicer 1834 1846 or 1850, Durrant 1831 and 1853,
George Frederick Good 1850, John Good 1851, Sarah Good 1853, Elizabeth
Parke 1812, Emsons 1811-1875, Riders 1810-1855.

Section VIII A (1938)
On the left of the path leading down to High Street (top section)

Allen, Thomas 1797 Archer, George ?
Allen, William ?
Allen, James 1778 Brown, Andrew 1797
Bell, John 1823 Darnell, Catherine 1822
Erswell. Elizabeth 1826 Latten, Charlotte 1847
Webb, Mary 1824
Parker, Jonathan 1764

Furlong, Anastasia 1851

Smith, Joseph 1794
Kent, Elizabeth 1802

Unwin, George 1839
Mynott, William 1826
Mynott, Sarah ? Winstanley, William 1750
Taylor, Elizabeth 1836 Wiseman, John Ruffe 1802

Wiseman, William 1817
Spicer, James Allen 1793
Spicer, John Waite 1768 [Waite, Martha 1779]?
Spicer, Thomas 1826

[Golden, James 1877?]
White, Charles 1773

Joseph Smith listed as illegible in 1950, but listed in 1984. James Golden
added in 1950. Thomas/William/James Allen and Charlotte Latten not listed
in 1984. The three Spicers omitted in 1950, but replaced by the names John
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and Martha Waite. John and Martha Waite, and also a James Allen listed in
1984, but not the three Spicers.

The following numbered in 1984: Waite 14, Erswell and Webb 16, Mynott 20,
James Allen 23, Taylor 27, Smith 28, Bell 30, Darnell 32, Archer 36, Wiseman
37, Golden 41, Unwin 42, Kent 43, White 44, Furlong 45, Brown 47, Parker
193, Winstanley 199. Golden spelt as Golding. All but the last two of these
sited against the south wall adjacent to Section VIII. There is also an
unnumbered and illegible flat stone in the middle of the grass, partly
overgrown, which could well be the missing stone of Charlotte Latten on the
evidence of the 1938 plan.

The present state of the above stones is as follows: 14 Waite, 16
Erswell/Webb, 20 Mynott, 23 James Allen, 27 Taylor, 37 Wiseman, 41
Golden/Golding, 193 Parker, all still legible. 45 Furlong part legible. 199
Winstanley legible with difficulty. 28 Smith, 30 Bell, 32 Darnell, 36 Archer, 42
Unwin, 43 Kent, 44 White, and 47 Brown all now virtually illegible.

Date of burial per burial register: Sarah Mynott 1837. Register confirms
James Allen Spicer in 1793, John Waite in 1768, Martha Waite in 1780, and
Thomas Spicer in 1826. The error seems to be, therefore, tacking the
surname Spicer on to John Waite.

Section VIII B (1938)
On the left of the path leading down to High Street (bottom section).

Barrett, George 1854 Bridge, Francis 1810
Barrett, Elizabeth 1808
Barrett, James 1822 Chater, Septimus 1837
Chater, Elizabeth 1839
Cohen, Edward 1835 Chater, Arthur 1842
Chater, Charles Adams 1852
Cowell, William 1823
Haselgrove, William ?
Knight, Elizabeth 1810
Jenkins, Elizabeth 1819
Kiy or Key, Francis 1820
Robinson, Stephen 1820
Spicer, George Crocker 1838
Robinson, Ann 1839
Robinson, Simeon 1833
[Jay, Ann 1853]

Ann Jay added in 1950. Cowell, Kiy, George Spicer, Jenkins and
Ann/Simeon Robinson not listed in 1950, but all found in 1984. Elizabeth
Knight not listed in 1984. The following numbered in 1984: Haselgrove 38,
Stephen Robinson 39, other Robinsons 40, Cowell/Elizabeth & James Barrett
49, George Barrett 50, Bridger 51, Kiy 52, George Crocker Spicer 53, Charles
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Adams Chater 54, Septimus/Elizabeth Chater 55, Cohen 56, Jay/Chater 57,
Arthur Chater 58, Jenkins 59.

These stones were sited along the lower south and west walls, and their
present state is as follows: 38 Haselgrove and 39 Robinson difficult to read;
40 Robinson illegible; 49 Cowell/Barrett and 50 Barrett covered with ivy; 51
Bridger illegible; 52 Kiy covered with ivy; (beginning of west wall) 53 Spicer
covered with ivy; 54 Charles Adams Chater and 55 Septimus/Elizabeth
Chater well preserved and legible; 56 Cohen covered with ivy; 57 Jay/Chater
and 58 Arthur Chater well preserved and legible, 59 Jenkins legible.

A note on the 1984 plan says that graves 58 to 64 were removed for the
repair of the boundary in 1981 and reinstated in incorrect positions. There is
now a gap between 57 and 58, but all seem to be there.

Burial date per burial register: William Haselgrove 1824.
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